IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY WHITE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

NO. 2009-KA-1155-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Tommy White, Appellant
- 3. Honorable John W. Champion, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Jimmy McClure, Circuit Court Judge

This the $(1 \frac{4h}{2})$ day of <u>November</u>, 2009.

Respectfully Submitted,

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

BY:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY EVIDENCE THAT PREJUDICED WHITE'S DEFENSE.

II. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Yalobusha County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, entered against Tommy White following a jury trial held on May 18-19, 2009, the Honorable James McClure, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. (C.P. 27, 30-31, Tr. 179, R.E. 3-5). The trial court adjudged White a habitual criminal pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81, sentenced him to serve a term

of ten (10) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, and ordered him to pay a fine in the amount of \$1,000. (C.P. 35-36, Tr. 199-201, R.E. 6-8). The trial court denied White's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, alternatively, motion for new trial. (C.P. 32-34, 43-44, Tr. 184-88, R.E. 9-13). White is presently incarcerated and now appeals to this Honorable Court for relief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 5, 2008, Tony Buckley ("Buckley") and Roger Smith ("Smith") were parked outside of B.J.'s corner store when Tommy White ("White") walked past them on the way to his aunt's house. (Tr. 144). Buckley asked White what he was looking at, and White did not respond. (Tr. 144). Buckley kept nagging White, but he (White) walked away, "up by [his] mama's house, by [his] garage, [and] then [he] just started walking, walking the street." (Tr. 144).

According to Buckley, he got into an argument with White, which lasted "about two minutes;" no fists were thrown, and White did not threaten Buckley. (Tr. 73-5, 78). Buckley then went to his house. (Tr. 75).

At trial, Buckley was allowed to testify, over objection, that later that evening, his girlfriend, Amanda Anderson ("Anderson"), answered the phone at Buckley's house and the caller told Anderson "that [White] came home and got a baseball bat and a shotgun and was coming back around there to my house [Buckley's house]." (Tr. 75-76). Anderson was also allowed to testify, over objection, to this phone call. (Tr. 83-85). Anderson claimed that the caller was her sister, LaToya Anderson ("LaToya"), and LaToya told her that she (LaToya) received a call "from up about where [White] stay at," and the caller told her (LaToya) that White "was going to come over [to Buckley's house] and shoot." (Tr. 83-85). Anderson testified that LaToya said that she got this information from "her cousin and an aunt." (Tr. 91). However, LaToya testified that she did not make any such call to Anderson. (Tr. 142).

Buckley and Anderson later noticed White walking up and down the street near Buckley's house. (Tr. 76, 78, 85). Buckley testified that White was wearing the same clothes he had on during the argument---"something with long sleeves"-and he saw something in White's sleeve but could not tell what it was. (Tr. 77, 78). Anderson claimed that "something was weird about his left side." (Tr. 86). She also claimed that she heard White tell someone that "he was fixing to blow this ni****'s chest off." (Tr. 87). However, this claim did not appear in Anderson's statement to police. (Tr. 89-90).

Anderson left the house and went to the Oakland Town Hall; which was located less than a mile away from Buckley's house. (Tr. 77, 87, 96, 109-10). There, she reported the situation to Chief Russ Smith ("Chief Smith") and Officer Paul Thomas ("Officer Thomas"), of the Oakland Police Department, and the officers went to Buckley's house right away. (Tr. 87-88, 95-97, 109-10).

Upon their arrival, the Officers saw White standing on Spruce Street in Denise Bradford's trailer wearing shorts and long sleeves; Chief Smith claimed that White was also wearing a black jacket. (Tr. 96-98, 110). Officer Thomas testified that it was dark outside and he did not notice anything unusual about White when he first saw him. (Tr. 98). However, Chief Smith claimed that he saw "a bulge in [White's] sleeve" and also saw "the barrel of the shotgun" in White's right hand. (Tr. 110).

Officer Thomas asked White to come talk to him and exited the vehicle. (Tr. 97, 110-11). According to the officer's testimony, White hesitated for a moment and then ran behind Bradford's house, toward Troy White's house; Officer Thomas and Chief Smith chased White. (Tr. 97-98, 110-11). The officers testified that White fell in Troy White's driveway. (Tr. 98, 111). Officer Thomas claimed that he "heard a noise;" he also testified that "he heard "something hit the ground" and "based on [his] training and experience, [it] sounded like [it] would be a weapon." (Tr. 98-99). Officer Thomas admitted that he never saw a gun in White's possession. (Tr. 102). Chief Smith did not hear any such noise, but he claimed to see the shotgun. (Tr. 88, 111-12). Officer Thomas then stopped and drew his weapon, White continued running, and Chief Smith chased White around the side of Troy's White's house, where he (Chief Smith) caught up with him. (Tr. 99, 112). According to Chief Smith, he grabbed White and spun him around, at which point, "the shotgun went between [his] vest and his stomach." (Tr. 112-13). Chief Smith testified that he wrestled the gun away, and threw it aside, and White got loose and ran again. (Tr. 112-13).

The officers ran White down and handcuffed him a short distance away, in Troy White's back yard. (Tr. 99-100, 113-14). As the officers walked White to the car, they allegedly picked up the gun near the side of Troy White's house. (Tr. 100, 114). The officers also allegedly found five shotgun shells in the front pocket of White's shorts. (Tr. 101, 114, Ex. 3). The shotgun was not loaded. (Tr. 104, 117). The gun was not tested for fingerprints. (Tr. 116, 118).

White testified at trial and called five other witnesses to testify on his behalf. White testified that he did not possess the firearm in question, and he had never seen the gun until the day of trial. (Tr. 143). White explained that Buckley and Roger Smith were parked outside of B.J.'s when he walked past them on the way to his aunt's house. (Tr. 144). Buckley asked White what he was looking at, and White did not respond. (Tr. 144). Buckley kept nagging White, but he (White) walked away, "up by [his] mama's house, by [his] garage, [and] then [he] just started walking, walking the street." (Tr. 144). White testified that it is not unusual for him to walk the street. (Tr. 144).

White testified that he was wearing two shirts, a t-shirt and a long sleeve Nike shirt. (Tr. 144). He testified that he was not wearing a jacket on the day in question. (Tr. 145). White stated

that he did not like guns, he does not carry weapons, and he did not have any kind of weapon on the day in question. (Tr. 145).

White testified that he was standing outside talking to Dantino Bradford when the officers pulled up, and he explained that he ran because the police have been harassing him for years because of the way he dresses and the police previously charged him with possession of a firearm after they found a broken pellet gun in a pile of junk in his garage. (Tr. 146-48, 153-54). White testified that he had no idea where the gun at issue came from, and pointed out that his fingerprints were not recovered from the gun. (Tr. 150-51).

Dantino Bradford testified that he was talking to White at the time the police pulled up, and he never saw a gun in White's possession. (Tr. 128-29). Denise Bradford testified that she saw White from only seven or eight feet away at the time and she also did not see a weapon on him. (Tr. 124-25).

Troy White, the defendant's brother, testified that he would know if White had a gun, and he had never seen the gun at issue before the day of trial. (Tr. 133-34). Mattie White, the defendant's mother, testified that she lived right next to White, and she had never seen any gun in White's possession. (Tr. 138). Mattie also testified that she and White "talk about[] stuff like that," and she would know if White possessed a gun. (Tr. 138). Mattie also testified that, on the evening in question, she was at church, and she did not make any kind of phone call to Anderson or anyone else saying that White was armed and/or coming to Buckley's house. (Tr. 138-39).

As stated above, LaToya Anderson, Amanda Anderson's sister, testified that, on the evening in question, she was at work and did not make a call to Anderson saying that White was armed and/or coming to Buckley's house. (Tr. 142).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing inadmissable hearsay testimony from both Buckley and Anderson regarding an alleged phone call that Anderson received claiming that White had grabbed a gun and was coming over to Buckley's house. Buckley and Anderson's testimony as to this phone call contained multiple layers of hearsay, and the actual declarant of the statement that White was coming to Buckley's house with a gun was not even specifically identified. Further, no witness had any personal knowledge regarding the making of this statement. In fact, even the identity of the caller was unclear. Anderson claimed that the caller was her sister, LaToya, and LaToya told Anderson that she received a call from another person, who told her (LaToya) that White was coming to Buckley's house with a gun. However, LaToya testified that she did not make any such call to Anderson.

Buckley and Anderson's testimony as to this statement contained multiple layers of hearsay, and was clearly inadmissible. The trial court acknowledged as much in its order denying White's motion for a new trial; however, the trial court itself deemed it's own error harmless.

White's theory of the case was that he did not possess the gun; therefore, Buckley and Anderson's hearsay testimony that White was coming to Buckley's house with a gun prejudiced his defense. Because there is a reasonable possibility that this evidence could have contributed to the jury's verdict, the error was not harmless. Accordingly, the trial court erred in admitting this testimony and White respectfully submits that he is entitled to a new trial.

Additionally, the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Of all the State's witnesses, including Officer Thomas, only one witness, Chief Smith, testified as to actually seeing a gun in White's possession. Numerous other witnesses, including White himself, testified that White did not have a gun on the evening in question. Furthermore, Anderson's testimony was unreliable as she claimed that LaToya called her and told her that someone told her that White was

coming to Buckley's house with a gun, while LaToya testified that she did not even call Anderson on the evening in question. Also, there was no evidence that White's fingerprints were on the gun.

Because the overwhelming weight of the evidence tends to show that White did not possess the gun, White respectfully submits that he is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY EVIDENCE THAT PREJUDICED WHITE'S DEFENSE.

At trial, Buckley was allowed to testify, over objection, that Anderson answered the phone at his house and the caller (unidentified by Buckley) told Anderson "that [White] came home and got a baseball bat and a shotgun and was coming back around there to my house [Buckley's house]." (Tr. 75-76). Later, Anderson was also allowed to testify, over objection, that the caller was her sister, LaToya, and LaToya told her that she (LaToya) received a call "from up about where [White] stay at," and the caller told her (LaToya) that White "was going to come over [to Buckley's house] and shoot." (Tr. 83-85). Anderson testified that LaToya told her that she got this information from "her cousin and an aunt." (Tr. 91). However, LaToya testified that she did not make any such call to Anderson. (Tr. 142). Therefore, the caller's identity is unclear and the source of the statement at issue is unknown.

Defense counsel objected to the testimony of both Buckley and Anderson on the grounds of hearsay; the State claimed that the statement was admissible as a present sense impression and/or an excited utterance under Mississippi Rules of Evidence 801(1) and/or 803(2); and the trial court overruled both objections. (Tr. 75-76, 83-84).

White raised this issue in his motion for a new trial. (C.P. 32-34, R.E. 9-11). In the trial court's order denying the motion for new trial, the trial court acknowledges that this testimony was

hearsay. (C.P. 43, R.E. 12-13). However, the trial court went on to deem its own error in admitting the hearsay testimony harmless. (C.P. 43, R.E. 12-13).

From the outset, White submits that he is unable to find any authority for a trial court to deem its own error harmless. To the best of White's understanding, determinations of whether an error is reversible, harmless, plain, etc. . . is a function reserved for the appellate courts of this state. To condone such a practice, would allow trial courts to usurp this Court's function on appeal by preemptively determining that an error made at trial was harmless, thereby insulating such a ruling with the deference afforded to trial court's under the applicable standard(s) of review on appeal.

"This Court reviews a trial court's decision regarding the admissibility of evidence under an abuse of discretion standard of review." *Young v. State*, 987 So. 2d 1074, 1076 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Edwards v. State*, 856 So. 2d 587, 592 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). Reversal is proper where "the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party." *Mingo v. State*, 944 So. 2d 18, 28 (¶27) (Miss. 2006).

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 801(c) defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." M.R.E. 801(c). Rule 801(a) provides that "[a] 'statement' is (1) an oral or written assertion." M.R.E. 801(a)(1).

The hearsay exceptions relevant to this issue are Rules 803(1) and 803(2), which provide as follows:

(1) *Present sense impression*. A statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition or immediately thereafter.

(2) *Excited utterance*. A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition.

M.R.E. 803(1) and (2).

The statement at issue was buried under multiple layers of hearsay. A statement comprised of multiple layers of hearsay, i.e., hearsay within hearsay, is inadmissible unless "each part of the combined statements conforms with an exception to the hearsay rule." *Jackson v. State*, 962 So. 2d 649, 681 (¶120) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting M.R.E. 805); *Jones v. State*, 763 So. 2d 210, 213-16 (¶¶10-17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

In *Jones v. State*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals addressed a very similar issue. *Jones*, 763 So. 2d at 213-16 (¶10-17). There, a witness ("bystander1") was allowed to testify as to statements identifying the defendant that the victim allegedly made to another bystander ("bystander 2"), who then told bystander 1, although bystander 1 never heard the victim make the statements. *Jones*, at 211 (¶5). In reversing, the court stated that "what [bystander 1] actually heard about who shot [the victim] came not from the [victim] but from the "other lady" [bystander 2] who in essence acted as a verbal conduit of the dying victim." *Id.* at 215 (¶15).

In the instant case, Anderson was also allowed to testify that the caller, LaToya, told her that she (LaToya) received a call from another person ("her cousin and an aunt") who said that White was coming to Buckley's house with a gun. (Tr. 83-85, 91). Thus, what Anderson actually heard about White coming to Buckley's house with a gun, came not from the actual declarant but from the caller who "acted as a verbal conduit" of the declarant, which was essentially unidentified. Buckley's testimony as to what Anderson told him that the caller said she heard the other person say, added yet another layer of hearsay.

Additionally, no witness had personal knowledge of the statement, i.e., no witness heard the actual declarant make the alleged statement that White was coming to Buckley's house with a gun. Therefore, their testimony was impermissible under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 602. See M.R.E. 602 ("A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that he has personal knowledge of the matter); see also M.R.E. 602 cmt. (In order for a witness to testify as to hearsay statements, he must "show that he has personal knowledge regarding the making of the statements.").

Buckley and Anderson's testimony as to the phone call was inadmissible hearsay, and the trial court erred in allowing it. White's theory of defense was that he did not possess a gun. He had two witnesses who were standing very close to him when the police arrived, and both witnesses testified that they never saw a gun in White's possession. Of all the witnesses, only one, Chief Smith, testified that he saw White with a gun. The testimony regarding the phone call was presented to the jury twice, once through Buckley and again through Anderson, neither of which personally saw White possess a gun. White submits that this evidence substantially prejudiced his case, and "there is a reasonable possibility that the evidence complained of might have contributed to the conviction." *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 23 (1967). Therefore, White respectfully submits that the error is not harmless and he is entitled to a new trial.

II. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, the verdict will be only be disturbed "when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Id.* (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997)). This Court "sits as a hypothetical thirteenth juror." *Lamar v. State*, 983 So. 2d 364, 367 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶18)). "If, in this position, the Court disagrees with the verdict of the jury, 'the proper remedy is to grant a new trial."

The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the trial court erred in denying White's motion for a new trial. White was charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, which required the State to prove "(1) possession of a firearm; (2) by one who has been convicted of a felony." *Short v. State*, 929 So. 2d 420, 427 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); Miss. Code Ann. § 97-37-5(1) (Rev.2006). There was no dispute at trial (and no dispute on appeal) that White was a convicted felon. Therefore, the critical issue was whether White was in possession of a firearm.

The State produced four witnesses: Buckley, Anderson, Officer Thomas, and Chief Smith. At trial, neither Buckley, Anderson, nor Officer Thomas could testify that they saw a gun in White's possession on the night in question. The only witness that claimed to see a gun on White was Chief Smith.

However, White himself testified that he did not have a gun, and he called two eyewitnesses who testified accordingly. Dantino Bradford was talking to White at the time the police pulled up, and he did not see a gun in White's possession. (Tr. 128-29). Denise Bradford also testified that she saw White from only seven or eight feet away at the time and she did not see a weapon on White either. (Tr. 124-25).

White's mother and brother also testified that they would know if he had a gun, and they had never seen the gun in White's possession. (Tr. 133-34, 138). Furthermore, there was no evidence that White's fingerprints were on the gun.

As explained above, the alleged phone call from the unidentified caller stating that White was coming to Buckley's house was inadmissible and prejudicial. While testimony regarding this alleged phone call prejudiced White's defense, it also impeached Anderson's credibility as a witness. To

Id.

this end, Anderson testified that her sister, LaToya, was the caller who warned her that someone else told her (LaToya) that White was coming with a gun; however, LaToya testified that she did not make any such phone call on the night in question. (Tr. 142).

Although Chief Smith claimed that he saw the gun in White's possession, the weight of the evidence, discussed above, tended to show that White did not possess the gun. Therefore, the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and White is entitled to a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the propositions briefed and the authorities cited above, together with any plain error noticed by the Court which has not been specifically raised, White respectfully requests that this honorable Court reverse the conviction, sentence and fines entered against him in the trial court and remand this case for a new trial.