IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY WHITE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1155

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY ADMITTING INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY TO EVIDENCE; THAT, IN THE EVENT THAT THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID COMMIT ERROR IN THE ADMISSION OF HEARSAY TESTIMONY, ANY SUCH ERROR IS HARMLESS

2. THAT THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY ADMITTING INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY TO EVIDENCE; THAT, IN THE EVENT THAT THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID COMMIT ERROR IN THE ADMISSION OF HEARSAY TESTIMONY, ANY SUCH ERROR IS HARMLESS

In the First Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court committed error by allowing the witness Buckley to testify to a statement made by Amanda Anderson's niece to Anderson to the effect that the Appellant was armed with a shotgun and a baseball bat and was coming to Buckley's residence. The Appellant further alleges error in the admission of similar testimony through the witness Anderson.

In the course of the direct testimony of Buckley, the prosecutor asked Buckley whether Anderson's niece had called Buckley or Anderson. When Buckley testified that there was such a call, the prosecutor asked Buckley to relate the substance of the call. There was an objection on hearsay grounds. The prosecutor, in response, cited the excited utterance and present sense impression exceptions set out under M.R.E. 803. The trial court thereupon overruled the objection. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 75 - 76).

In the course of Anderson's testimony, the prosecutor asked Anderson whether she had received a telephone call. She responded that she had received one from her sister. Anticipating that the prosecutor was then going to ask Anderson to relate the substance of that call, the defense lodged another objection based on hearsay grounds. The prosecutor asserted the same exceptions as asserted previously with respect to Buckley's testimony. In this instance, though, the court indicated that it was going to sustain the objection. The prosecutor then stated that the proposed testimony was already before the jury. The court thereupon overruled the objection. Anderson went on to testify

that the Appellant was armed with a shotgun and a baseball bat and that he was coming to Buckley's residence. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 84 - 85).

During cross - examination, Anderson indicated that her sister did not live close to the Appellant. Her sister got her information from her cousin and an aunt. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 90 - 91)

Anderson's sister subsequently denied having made any such call. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 141).

In the motion for a new trial, the Appellant asserted that the admission of the statement testified to by Anderson was sufficient a ground for a new trial. However, he did not allege the same with respect to the statement testified to by Buckley. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 32 - 33). The trial court overruled the Appellant's motion for a new trial and, with respect to the allegation regarding the statement, held that, if it was error to have admitted the statement testified to by Anderson, any such error was "harmless error". (R. Vol. 1, pg. 43).

As we have said above, during Buckley's examination, the prosecutor asserted that the statements were admissible either as a present sense impression or an excited utterance under M.R.E. 803(1) and (2). As for the present sense impression exception, there was no testimony to demonstrate that the statement was made while the declarant was perceiving what she was reporting, or that she made the statement immediately after having perceived it. On the other hand, it would be a reasonable inference to make that the statement was made to Anderson or Buckley immediately after Anderson's sister perceived the Appellant's actions and intention. Anderson's sister called Anderson to report that the Appellant was armed and was coming to Buckley's residence. Shortly thereafter, the Appellant appeared. We submit that this fact was sufficient to show the spontaneity of the statement and that the statement was made either at the time of perception or immediately thereafter.

To the extent that Anderson's sister may not herself have seen or heard the Appellant, this

fact, if a fact, is of no consequence. It was not known, at the time Buckley testified, that Anderson's sister may have been simply relaying information she heard. Once there was testimony to suggest this, the Appellant did not move to strike Buckley's testimony and to have the jury admonished to ignore it. Indeed, no complaint was raised about Buckley's testimony even at the time of the motion for a new trial. Buckley testified as to the statement. That was before the jury and no effort was made to strike his testimony on the point in light of anything Anderson testified to. Consequently, regardless of what defects may have existed with Anderson's testimony, the same testimony was already before the jury through Buckley. Any error on the part of the trial court in permitting Anderson to testify on the point is harmless since Anderson's testimony was merely cumulative of Buckley's. *Anthony v. State*, 23 So.3rd 611, 620 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009).

While the prosecutor did not attempt to explore whether the statement was made while Anderson's sister was perceiving the event, or immediately after having perceived the event, the small amount of time between the call and the Appellant's appearance at Buckley's residence demonstrates this.

As for the excited utterance exception, the prosecutor did not elicit testimony as to the degree or nature of stress of excitement of the declarant. We submit, however, that the fact that the declarant knew of what the Appellant was intent upon doing was enough to permit an inference that the declarant made the telephone call to her sister while under such stress.

In the event that this Court should find that the trial court committed error in allowing the

¹ During Anderson's direct examination, the witness indicated that someone else had told her about the difficulty between Buckley and the Appellant. The defense objection on "double hearsay" grounds. This was sustained. The prosecutor, of the view, apparently, that the witness' knowledge of what the Appellant said and did was but one level of hearsay, guided the witness by subsequent questions to testify as to what she had been told by her sister.

statement into evidence, any such error should be considered harmless. The chief of police saw the Appellant in possession of the shotgun, and the shotgun was found at or quite near the point where the chief disarmed the Appellant. The Appellant was in possession of five shotgun shells, a strange thing indeed if indeed he had no shotgun. The Appellant's testimony was simply incredible and self - serving. The statement testified to by Anderson was not necessary to the conviction, and the jury would have certainly convicted the Appellant had it not been permitted into evidence. The Appellant was a felon, as he himself admitted, and he was in possession of a firearm. What his reasons were for having the shotgun were largely irrelevant. That he had a firearm and was a convicted felon were the operative facts, and nothing about the statement made to Buckley or his girlfriend affected those facts.

It may be that the Appellant presented witnesses to say that they did not see the Appellant with a gun, but, for reasons detailed below, the testimony of these witnesses was hardly compelling. Because the statement testified to by Buckley and Anderson was not critical to the State's case, because the evidence properly admitted was more than sufficient to demonstrate the Appellant's guilt, any error in the admission of that statement is harmless. *Edwards v. State*, 856 So.2d 587 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The Appellant also suggests that no witness had personal knowledge of the statement. By this he means that no witness heard the "actual" declarant state that the Appellant was armed and was coming to Buckley's residence. There was no objection on this ground at trial. It may not be raised here. *Doss v. State*, 709 So.2d 369, 379 (Miss. 1996).

The Appellant points out that the trial court, in its Order denying relief on the motion for a new trial, held that it was harmless error at most, if it had been error to admit the statement. The Appellant asserts that he can find no authority which would permit a trial court to regard a putative

error committed by it as harmless error.

We submit that a trial court has the inherent authority to consider whether an error said to have been committed by it is harmless, if error, and so rule. The harmless error doctrine is a practical, common sense doctrine. Where an error may be safely said to have resulted in no prejudice to an accused, a conviction will not be reversed. A reversal of a conviction for reason of an error in the admission of evidence will only occur where there is error and where prejudice is shown. *Gray v. State*, 799 So.2d 53, 61 (Miss. 2001). Perfectly tried cases are relatively rare things, and it would be unreasonable and a waste of time and money to require a new trial in any case in which some error could be shown to exist, without regard to whether the error was harmful.

While it may be that the harmless error doctrine is most often seen appellate cases, the reason for the existence of the harmless error doctrine is no less applicable at the trial level than at the appellate level. If a trial court in a criminal case should find or suspect that an error occurred in the course of a trial, but that the error, if error, did not prejudice the accused, then no good purpose would be served in ordering a new trial. There is no reason in the world, and certainly no reason suggested by the Appellant, why a trial court would commit error in considering whether a putative error was harmless. Since a finding by a trial court that an alleged error was harmless would be reviewable here, it is difficult to see how it would be prejudicial to an accused to do so. A trial court would not in any way usurp this Court's authority by such a finding since that finding would in no way bind this Court.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In the Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant alleges that the verdict is contrary to the

great weight of the evidence. We bear in mind the standard of review appurtenant to such a claim.

May v. State, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

The Appellant was shown to have been a convicted felon. It was further clearly shown that the chief of police saw the Appellant in possession of a shotgun and that he in fact disarmed the Appellant. The State's evidence clearly showed the Appellant guilt under Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-37-5. Nonetheless, the Appellant would have this Court find that the verdict constitutes an unconscionable injustice because the Appellant testified that he did not have a shotgun and that his witnesses testified that they did not see the Appellant with the shotgun.

That the Appellant testified that he did not have a shotgun is not surprising, yet the most his testimony did was to create an issue of fact for the jury to resolve. As for the Appellant's witnesses, their testimony was simply that they did not see the Appellant with a shotgun. Since the Appellant had the gun in one of his sleeves, this testimony does not amount to very much. The Appellant's mother and brother admitted that the Appellant might very well have had the gun hidden somewhere, without their knowledge.

The Appellant could give no credible reason why the police chief would have committed perjury. The Appellant stated variously that the chief might have disliked the Appellant on account of the way he dressed, or it might have been because he was not liked. At one point in the testimony, the Appellant admitted that his notions in this regard did not make much sense. He tried to explain that by saying that nothing about the case made sense to him.

There was nothing about the testimony from the defense that put the State's evidence into serious question. There is nothing in this record that might be reasonably thought to put the police chief's testimony into significant doubt. The simple fact is that the Appellant was in possession of a sawed off shotgun and that he was at the time a convicted felon.

The Appellant then goes on again to attack Anderson's testimony. Whether Anderson's testimony was believable was a matter for the jury to decide. It seems of little significance to us, though, considering the fact that it is what the chief of police testified to that sealed the Appellant's fate. Why the Appellant had the shotgun was of no importance here, really, save perhaps to explain why the police were looking for him. What is of significance is that the Appellant, for whatever reason or no reason, had a shotgun. Since he was a convicted felon he was not permitted to possess the weapon.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.